1987

Kennecott Copper Corporation, a New York corporation v. Salt Lake County, a body corporate and politic; Aruthur Monson, Treasurer of Salt Lake County; Milton Yorgason, Assessor of Salt Lake County; The State Tax Commission of Utah :
Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction to the Supreme Court in this matter is found in Section 78-2-2(3)(i), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This appeal is from the final judgment of the Third District Court granting Summary Judgment of No Cause of Action in favor of Kennecott Corporation and against Defendants/Appellants, thereby dismissing with prejudice Defendant/Appellants' Counterclaim and further, from the Summary Judgment granting Defendant, Utah State Tax Commission a Summary Judgment of No Cause of Action, upon Defendant Salt Lake County's Cross-claim against the Utah State Tax Commission. Judgment was entered in the proceedings on the 23rd day of December, 1986. Notice of Appeal was filed January 20, 1987.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether or not the equality of assessment and uniformity requirements of the Constitution of Utah allow the reassessment of properties that have escaped assessment or have been undervalued even though an assessment has already been made and the taxes have been paid.

2. Whether or not the Counterclaim of Salt Lake County, which asserted an underassessment and escaped assessment of property was legally sufficient to raise a cause of action against Respondent, Kennecott Corporation.

3. Whether or not an undervaluation of property allows an assessor to make a reassessment where a component part of the overall value has escaped assessment altogether.

4. Whether or not a county, having discovered that property which is subject to assessment by the Utah State Tax Commission has been undervalued or escaped assessment because of unlawful or erroneous assessment practices on the part of the Utah State Tax Commission can recover as far back as five (5) years, those taxes lost as a result of such practices even though taxes have already been assessed and paid.

5. Whether or not the cross-claim of Salt Lake County against the Utah State Tax Commission which alleged undervaluation and escape from assessment of Kennecott Corporation's property is legally sufficient to create a cause of action to require correction of assessment practices by the Utah State Tax Commission of Kennecott's property.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case originally arose from an action filed by Kennecott Corporation against Appellant, Salt Lake County and others for a claimed over-assessment of ad valorem property taxes. Appellant, Salt Lake County, in response to Kennecott's Complaint, filed a counterclaim alleging undervaluation and escaped assessment, and a cross-claim against the Utah State Tax Commission to compel correction of alleged unlawful and erroneous assessment practices. Respondent, Kennecott Corporation's

Complaint was resolved against Kennecott Corporation as a result of this Court's decision in Rio Algom Corp. v. San Juan County, 681 P.2d 184 (Utah 1984), which, by stipulation of the parties, disposed of Kennecott Corporation's protest action leaving for determination Salt Lake County's Counterclaim and Cross-claim, which this Court addressed in Kennecott Corp. v. Salt Lake County, 702 P.2d 451 (Utah 1985) in so far as the standing of the County to bring its Counter-claim is concerned. The case now comes before this Court on the question of the legal sufficiency of Appellant, Salt Lake County's Counterclaim and Cross-claim and the appropriateness of the Court's decision in granting Summary Judgment against Salt Lake County.

Plaintiff/Respondent Kennecott filed a Motion for Judgment on the pleadings.

Defendant/Appellant, in response, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting affidavits. The District Court, the Honorable Timothy R. Hanson, granted Kennecott Corporation and Utah State Tax Commission's Motions to Strike the supporting affidavits filed by Salt Lake County. Having thus excluded all of the Appellant's affidavits and supporting evidence, the Court granted judgment in favor of Respondents, Kennecott Corporation and the Utah State Tax Commission thereby dismissing, with prejudice, Salt Lake County's Counterclaim and Cross-claims respectively.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Salt Lake County, in response to Kennecott Corporation's Complaint, filed a counter-claim against Kennecott Corporation and a Cross-claim against the State Tax Commission of Utah. (T-53-64.)

Paragraph 4 of the Counterclaim states as follows:

...[T]he properties owned by the Plaintiff, both real and personal, located within Salt Lake County, have been underassessed by the State Tax Commission of Utah, thereby resulting in the Plaintiff's receiving a benefit at the expense of the other taxpayers of Salt Lake County, which benefit is contrary to law and, in particular, a violation of Article 13, Section 3 of the Constitution of the State of Utah.

In paragraph 5(b) of Appellant's Counterclaim it is asserted:

...[T]he value of minerals either in situ or as recovered, have been allowed to escape taxation due to the use of an unconstitutional methodology of assessment, which assessment is based upon two and one-half times the net annual proceeds with loss carry forward. This assessment practice allows much of plaintiff's property to escape assessment. [Emphasis supplied.]

By its counterclaim, Salt Lake County was asserting that certain of Kennecott's properties were undervalued and certain other of Kennecott's properties escaped assessment altogether in that they were never assessed for value. Since that "escaped" or "omitted" property was not included in Kennecott's over-all assessment, undervaluation occurred. In its prayer for relief, Salt Lake County requested a judgment against plaintiff, Kennecott, for the amount of such taxes as the Court shall determine

have escaped assessment for each of the past five years.
[Emphasis supplied.] (T-57).

After Salt Lake County filed its counterclaim, it was later learned that the State Tax Commission of Utah had granted to Kennecott for the tax year in 1981, the benefit of the rollback provided for in Section 59-5-109, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, which reduced the 1981 valuation of Kennecott's property to its 1978 level. (T-000900-0000901.)

Salt Lake County's cross-claim against the Utah State Tax Commission asserted in part as follows at paragraph 6:

"That said Tax Commission failed to value the properties owned by Plaintiff Kennecott Corporation, at their full cash value. This variance on the part of the Tax Commission results in part from its failure to assess the personal property owned by Plaintiff, Kennecott Corporation in a manner that disregards its current full cash value, thereby permitting underassessment or escaped assessment. It is further asserted by Salt Lake County that the formula established pursuant to Section 59-5-57, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, establishes a value that has no relationship to the full cash value of the Plaintiff's mining properties." [Emphasis supplied.]

The County further sought a determination of the value of the minerals in situ and extracted during each of the past five (5) years and a declaration that Section 59-5-57, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, is unconstitutional. (T-57-61).

Salt Lake County's cross-claim against the Tax Commission also claimed escaped assessment which resulted in undervaluation. For tax year 1981, the assessment on minerals was zero on

net proceeds for the minerals in the ground. (T-001042).

The affidavit of Mike Reed, Deputy Salt Lake County Auditor, was stricken by the Court pursuant to Plaintiff's Motion to Strike. (T-001086) Exhibit A-12, page 1 of said Affidavit indicated that taxes on the production value of the minerals produced by Kennecott Corporation in 1981 would have been \$8,732,773.48, had the production value of the minerals been taxed. The fact that there was a zero assessment on minerals on net proceeds is not disputed. (T-001042).

The District Court granted Plaintiff, Kennecott Corporation summary judgment thereby dismissing with prejudice, Salt Lake County's counterclaim and further dismissed with prejudice the County's cross-claim against the Tax Commission of Utah.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Salt Lake County has the constitutional and statutory authority to require that property owned by Kennecott Corporation which has been omitted from assessment or which has been unlawfully undervalued by the Utah State Tax Commission be properly assessed, and that those properties escaping assessment be assessed as far back as five years.

The County's Counterclaim and Cross-claim state a cause of action against Kennecott Corporation and the Utah State Tax Commission and the trial court erred in granting summary judgment of dismissal under the facts and circumstances of this case.

A R G U M E N T

POINT I.

THE 1981 ASSESSMENT OF KENNECOTT'S PROPERTY
BY THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION PURSUANT
TO SECTION 59-5-57, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED,
1953, AS AMENDED, ALLOWED ALL MINERALS PRODUCED
AND IN PLACE TO BE VALUED AT ZERO FOR TAX PURPOSES,
THEREBY VIOLATING THE UNIFORMITY AND EQUALITY
REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE XIII, SECTIONS 2 AND 3,
OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH

To determine whether or not Kennecott's unassessed properties can be subsequently assessed as the County-Appellant contends it should, it is necessary to evaluate, not only the date upon which this assessment may be made, but the whole gamut of the taxation statutes. The Utah State Constitution requires that all tangible property within the state be taxed at a uniform and equal rate, unless a specific exemption is granted by the laws of the United States or the Utah Constitution. There is no language exempting extracted minerals or minerals in place from assessment. The language of the Constitution is mandatory and requires a uniform and equal assessment of all nonexempt, tangible property in proportion to its value. Article XIII, Sections 2 and 3. See United States Smelting, Refining & Mining Co. v. Haynes, 176 P.2d 622 (Utah 1947). See, also, Rose v. State, 123 P.2d 505, 512 (California 1942); Chelsey v. Byram, 101 P.2d 1106, 1107 (California 1940).

The State Tax Commission is charged with the responsibility of assessing mines and public utilities situated within the

state. Article XIII, Section 11. However, if a state-assessed property owner places its valuation at issue by filing an action for refund, as was done by Kennecott in this case, the County has standing to assert that the property was undervalued. See Kennecott Corp. v. Salt Lake County, 702 P.2d 451 (Utah 1985).

It is the position of the Appellant that the method of assessment utilized by the State Tax Commission, pursuant to Section 59-5-57, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, with respect to the properties of Kennecott has allowed those properties to escape assessment altogether in that the methodology has resulted in no tax being assessed upon certain of Kennecott's properties; for example, the value of minerals extracted. This result violates the constitutional requirements of uniformity and equality as mandated by the Constitution of the State of Utah in Article XIII, Sections 2 and 3. It also prevents the accurate assessment of Kennecott's property to its full value. In Moon Lake Electric Association v. State Tax Commission, 345 P.2d 612 (Utah 1969), this Court held unconstitutional a statutory formula that fixed the assessment of a property for ad valorem tax purposes. The Court stated:

The effect of these statutory] sections is nothing, unless it prevents the accurate assessment of property in a given case to its full value. The conflict with the constitution is clear.

345 P.2d at 614.

And in Rio Algom Corp. v. San Juan County, 681 P.2d 184

(Utah 1984, this Court held unconstitutional a statute which had the effect of an indefinite, partial freeze on the valuation of some properties in the state as being inconsistent with the basic concept of ad valorem tax system and violative of the principle of uniformity. The present system of valuing Kenne-cott's properties produces those results prohibited under Moon Lake and Rio Algom, supra.

To illustrate this inequity, and to establish the actual amount of taxes owed Salt Lake County as a result of the Tax Commission's action, were the exhibits prepared by Mike Reed, Deputy County Auditor for Salt Lake County. A copy of Mr. Reed's affidavit and the exhibits were attached to Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment. These exhibits were struck by the court and not considered. Exhibit A-8 to Mr. Reed's affidavit at page 1, indicated that no tax was assessed under the net proceeds valuation formula utilized by the State Tax Commission for the tax years 1978 through 1983. Exhibit A-12 at page 1 showed a breakdown of market value of production for the year 1981, indicating a total market value in excess of \$580 million for that year in Salt Lake County. The entire contents of the excluded exhibit are set forth at Addendum III.

The Appellant relies on additional authority in asserting that the methodology employed by the State Tax Commission is unconstitutional by virtue of the fact that it does not result in a fair and uniform assessment of all properties within the

state. Walter Hellerstein, a professor at the University of Georgia School of Law and noted authority in the field of state and local taxation, has made a detailed review of the scheme of assessment of metalliferous mines and mining claims within the State of Utah. A copy of Mr. Hellerstein's affidavit which was filed in the consolidated 4-R Act cases in November of 1985, and is presently before the United States District Court for the District of Utah, Central Division, as consolidated cases No. C84-0840J and C84-0839J, was attached to Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgement. It was also excluded by the court below. At page 3, paragraph 8, Professor Hellerstein states that in his opinion, metalliferous mines and mining claims are not assessed according to their fair market value. The excluded affidavit of Professor Hellerstein is set forth at Addendum IV.

Assessment is not only the listing of property on the tax roll. It also encompasses the valuation of property and to the extent that property having a market value is assigned zero value, as was done to the minerals extracted by Kennecott in 1981, that property has, for all intents and purposes, escaped assessment. Any statute or methodology achieving this result is in contravention of Article XIII, Sections 2 and 3 of the Constitution of Utah.

POINT II

THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH AND SECTION 59-5-17, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED, ALLOW RETROACTIVE ASSESSMENT OF KENNECOTT'S PROPERTIES

Section 59-5-17, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, in part provides as follows:

Any property discovered by the assessor to have escaped assessment may be assessed at any time as far back as five years prior to the time of discovery

Respondent, Kennecott, asserted in the court below that the Appellant, Salt Lake County, was unable to recover taxes lost by Salt Lake County because Salt Lake County admitted that an assessment was made for tax year 1981. To support this assertion, Respondent relied upon the cases of Builders Components Supply Co. v. Cockayne, 450 P.2d 97 (Utah 1969), and Union Portland Cement Company v. Morgan County, 230 P. 1020 (Utah 1924). However, those cases both support Appellant's counterclaim, given the facts of this case.

First, as indicated in paragraph 5(b) of Appellant's counterclaim, it is asserted that Respondent's property escaped assessment. It is factually undisputed that the over \$500 million worth of minerals produced by Kennecott in 1981 had a value for tax purposes of zero (0) in 1981. Therefore, Union Portland Cement, supra, would allow the assessment and Section 59-5-17, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, would require it. All of the produced minerals "escaped" assessment.

Appellant further asserted in its counterclaim that the minerals "escaped" in earlier years as well, and that by statute, the County should be allowed to recover based on the escape assessment as far back as five (5) years.

In Municipality of Anchorage v. Alaska Distributors Co., 725 P.2d 692 (Alaska 1986), the assessing municipality failed to assess an addition to an existing warehouse for four years after the addition was completed. The original building without the addition had been assessed and the tax paid. The Supreme Court of Alaska allowed the retroactive assessment to stand under a statute that allowed the assessor to assess omitted property, concluding that even though the municipality had assessed and taxed the other improvements on the land for the years in question, the addition to the warehouse could be taxed retroactively as escaped property.

In the instant case, Kennecott received its 1981 assessment and paid the tax. However, that assessment and payment did not include the minerals. The fact that a valuation was made of the other property, such as was done in the Anchorage case, supra, and the property was taxed did not preclude retroactive assessment of the omitted portion, any more than should Salt Lake County be precluded from assessing the omitted mineral value. Each component of the full assessment was omitted. In Anchorage, supra, it was the warehouse. In this case, it is the minerals.

The counterclaim of Salt Lake County, having alleged an "escaped assessment", was legally sufficient to state a cause of action against Respondent, Kennecott, and it was error for the trial court to dismiss Salt Lake County's counterclaim, with prejudice.

POINT III

**KENNECOTT WRONGFULLY RECEIVED THE BENEFIT
OF THE ROLLBACK WHICH WAS INTENDED FOR
LOCALLY ASSESSED PROPERTIES ONLY,
UNDER FORMER SECTION 59-5-109, UTAH CODE
ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED. THEREFORE,
RETROACTIVE ASSESSMENT WOULD PROPERLY BE ALLOWED**

In 1979, the Utah Legislature amended Utah Code Annotated, §59-5-109 (1953) and added two new subsections. Subsections (2) and (3) provided as follows:

(2) Taxable real property revalued, as provided in this chapter, after January 1, 1978, shall be appraised at current fair market value and the value shall be rolled back to the January 1, 1978, level.

(3) All properties added to the tax rolls after January 1, 1978, in counties reappraised by the Tax Commission shall be appraised at fair market value and their values shall be rolled back to the January 1, 1978, level, as indicated by the amount of inflation as determined by the Commission which has taken place between January 1, 1978, and the date of reappraisal.

In 1981, the Utah State Legislature repealed §59-5-109 (as amended in 1979) and reenacted the previous §59-5-109, which provided as follows:

Real property valuations to be rolled back to 1978 levels. All locally assessed taxable real property shall be appraised at current fair market value and the value of such property rolled back to its January 1, 1978, level as such level is determined by the state tax commission. [Emphasis added].

The 1979 and the 1981 versions applied only to locally assessed properties. Subsection (2) referencing revalued properties under the reappraisal statute applied only to locally assessed properties, and subsection (3) dealing with all properties added to the tax rolls in counties reappraised by the Tax Commission applied to locally reappraised properties. Only locally assessed properties, i.e., properties assessed by the county assessor, were to be rolled back to their 1978 level. State assessed properties were not included within those rollback statutes. The 1981 version of §59-5-109 was eventually found unconstitutional in 1984 by the Utah Supreme Court, but was applied only prospectively as to locally assessed properties. See Rio Algom v. San Juan County, 681 P.2d 184 (Utah 1984). The ruling in Rio Algom, supra, did not apply to Kennecott's 1981 assessment.

It is also factually undisputed that Kennecott, together with certain other favored state-assessed taxpayers in Utah, wrongfully and in violation of statute, received the rollback that applied only to locally assessed properties in 1981. Not all state-assessed properties received the rollback; only a favored few. See Appendix #5, which was excluded by the trial

court. Therefore, in addition to allowing certain of Kennecott's properties to escape assessment entirely, the property that was eventually assessed was wrongfully undervalued.

Should the County be precluded from challenging such wrongful practice merely because Kennecott has already paid its taxes for 1981? To preclude such a challenge because the taxes have been paid would only encourage additional wrongdoing. A taxpayer, knowing that it received a favored, but unlawful, assessment could merely quickly pay its taxes and cut off any inquiry into its assessment, thereby willingly and knowingly receiving the benefit of the wrongful action.

Under these circumstances, this Court's decision in Builders Components Supply, supra, which recognized that in extraordinary circumstances, undervaluation could be ground for reassessment, would apply and allow the subsequent assessment of the undervalued property. Kennecott's properties are state-assessed. Kennecott, in active concert with the Utah State Tax Commission, had its properties undervalued. One of the years in which this undervaluation occurred was 1981, when the Tax Commission assessed Kennecott properties at their 1978 level of value.

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