1987

Kennecott Copper Corporation, a New York Corporation v. Salt Lake County, a body corporate and politic; Arthur Monson, Treasurer of Salt Lake County; Milton Yorgason, Assessor of Salt Lake County; The State Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The County has no authority to recover additional taxes from Kennecott for 1981 and four years prior thereto under Utah Code Ann. § 59-5-17, supra, because of an alleged undervaluation or underassessment of Kennecott's property by the Commission.

The County may not, under the procedure and guise of a Counterclaim or a Crossclaim in a Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-1411 (Supp. 1987) tax protest action, obtain a reassessment or revaluation of Kennecott's property by the Commission.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COUNTY MAY NOT RECOVER TAXES FROM KENNECOTT IN THIS ACTION BY VIRTUE OF UTAH'S ESCAPED ASSESSMENT STATUTE

- A. Utah's Escaped Assessment Statute Does Not Apply to Property Which is Allegedly Undervalued.

As is pointed out above, the County relies upon Utah Code Ann. § 59-5-17 (1974), now found at Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-309 (Supp. 1987), in asserting its counterclaim. That statute, in pertinent part, reads as follows:

Any property discovered by the assessor to have escaped assessment may be assessed at any time as far back as five years prior to the time of discovery, and the assessor shall enter such assessments on the tax rolls in

the hands of the county treasurer or elsewhere . . .

Id. This statute does not define "escaped assessment" or specify what property is deemed to have escaped assessment. This court has on two occasions examined this escaped assessment statute, first in Union Portland Cement Co. v. Morgan County, 65 Utah 335, 230 P. 1020 (Utah 1924), and again in Builders Component Supply Co. v. Cockayne, 22 Utah 2d 172, 450 P.2d 97 (1969). In 1985, the Commission applied the statute in Nupetco Associates v. County Board of Equalization of Salt Lake County, Appeal No. 84-18-1600. A copy of the Commission's decision in Nupetco Associates is attached as Addendum A to this brief. (Rec. 737-740).

In Union Portland Cement Co. v. Morgan County, supra, this court applied Laws of Utah 1917 § 5908, the predecessor statute to Utah Code Ann. § 59-5-17, supra. The plaintiff in Union Portland failed to report all of its property in its annual statement to the State Board of Equalization. Id. at 1020. The omitted property was later assessed in a tax levy. Id. This court held as follows:

Our statute which clearly indicates that, if for any reason, property is omitted from the assessment roll, or has not been assessed in the regular order or at the time contemplated by law, it shall nevertheless be assessed. Comp. Laws of Utah 1917 § 5908. . . .

Id. at 1022. It is "the duty of the local assessor to assess property not listed for taxation . . ." Id. This language by the Utah Supreme Court shows that only property omitted from the

tax rolls, or which has not been "listed for taxation," has escaped assessment.

The court in Builders Component Supply Co. v. Cockayne, 22 Utah 2d 172, 450 P.2d 97 (1969), construed the current Utah escaped assessment statute. All tax statutes, according to the court, should be "construed favorably to the taxpayer and strictly against the taxing authority." 450 P.2d at 99. The court determined that where "there has never been a previous assessment [of plaintiff's property] and [plaintiff] had paid no taxes thereon" the statute imposed a duty upon the assessor to tax the property. Id. In reaching this conclusion the court states: "that where a valid assessment has been made by an assessor cognizant of the facts, undervaluation is ordinarily not a ground for another assessment; and that property should not be subject to double taxation." Id., 450 P.2d at 98. Only under extraordinary circumstances is undervaluation grounds for reassessment. The court in Builders Component Supply followed the decision in Union Portland Cement, stating that only property which was not assessed for taxes at all has escaped assessment and become subject to the escaped assessment statute.

The Commission cites Builders Component Supply and Union Portland Cement in its decision in the Nupetco Associates v. County Board of Equalization of Salt Lake County, Addendum A to this brief. In Nupetco, three acres of petitioner's property were not taxed due to a clerical error. Id. The Commission

states in its conclusions of law that "property which has been undervalued due to a clerical mistake in the quantity of the property to be assessed or in the assessed valuation does not result in property which has escaped valuation." Id. (citations omitted). "The subject property did not escape assessment . . . but was undervalued," so the Salt Lake County Assessor was said to have acted improperly in reassessing the property. Id. at page 6.

The County does not claim that any of Kennecott's property was deleted or omitted from assessment. The County's counterclaim in this action states that Kennecott's property escaped assessment because it was "underassessed by the State Tax Commission of Utah." Kennecott Corp. v. Salt Lake County, 702 P.2d 451, 453 (Utah 1985). Salt Lake County's Counterclaim at ¶ 4. (Rec. 54). This assertion by the County is denied by Kennecott. However, assuming only for purposes of this appeal that underassessment in fact occurred, this does not present a claim for relief by the County. The decisions in Builders Component Supply and Nupetco specifically state that undervaluation is not sufficient grounds for reassessment. Under Union Portland Cement and Builders Component Supply the assessor's duty to assess escaped property arises only when that property is omitted or has never been assessed.

**B. The Majority Rule in Other Jurisdictions
Would Not Permit Recovery in this Action by
the County Under the County's Counterclaim.**

Utah's escaped assessment statute is similar to that found in many states. The majority rule in construing those statutes is that property is not open to reassessment as escaped property simply because it was undervalued. See State v. Realty Loan Company, 96 So. 613 (Ala. 1923); Thomas Executrix v. Commonwealth, 215 S.W. 2d 546 (Ky. 1948); Davidson v. Franklin Avenue Investment Company, 151 N.W. 537 (Minn. 1915); Stafford v. Riverside County, 155 Cal.2d 474, 318 P.2d 172 (Ca. 1957); E.K. Wood Lumber Co. v. Whatcom County, 5 Wsh.2d 63, 104 P.2d 752 (1940). The Minnesota and Washington escaped assessment statutes use "omitted" to describe property subject to further assessment. Davidson, supra at 538; Tacoma Goodwill Industries Rehabilitation Center, Inc. v. County of Pearce, 518 P.2d 196, 197 (Wa. App. 1973). Utah Code Ann. § 59-5-17, supra, does not contain this "omitted" language, and thus more closely resembles the California statute. Stafford, 318 P.2d at 174.

In Stafford, the court relied on the precedent set in Davidson and E.K. Wood Lumber Co., as well as cases from North Dakota, Alabama, Louisiana, Oklahoma and Illinois, when it ruled "it is only where there has been no assessment at all that the provisions for escape assessment apply." Id. at 174. Stafford was qualified by the California Supreme Court in Bauer-Schweitzer

Malting Company v. City and County of San Francisco, 106 Cal. 643, 506 P.2d 1019 (1973).

In Bauer-Schweitzer the city and county assessor was charged with criminal misconduct while in office. Id. at 1020. The court upheld an order which allowed properties underassessed due to the assessor's criminal conduct to be reassessed by experts. Id. at 1021. The holding expanded the definition of property which has escaped assessment to include property "assessed at an assessment ratio lower than the ratio properly established by the assessor for a particular year" Id. at 1022. An assessor's criminal conduct is an extraordinary circumstance, which was contemplated by the Utah Supreme Court in Builders Component Supply, supra, when the court indicated that an extraordinary circumstance constitutes sufficient grounds for a second assessment of the property. Builders Component Supply, supra, at 98.

Because Utah follows the rule that property which is underassessed is not the same as property which has escaped assessment, Kennecott's property may not be reassessed, and the County cannot recover on its Counterclaim.

C. The County is Not the Assessor of Kennecott's Property and Cannot have Kennecott's Property Reassessed as Property Which has Escaped Assessment.

Utah Code Annotated § 59-5-46(22), (1974), clearly commits to the Commission the power and authority to correct any

assessment made by it when that assessment is improper. It states as follows:

To correct any error in any assessment made by it at any time before the tax is paid thereon and report such correction to the county auditor, who shall thereupon enter the same upon the assessment roll.

Nowhere in Utah statute is the county assessor given any authority whatsoever to correct any assessment made by the Commission upon property which, by statute and the constitution, the Commission is required to assess. Kennecott's property is mining property and as such it is assessed under the Utah Constitution and Utah Statute by the Commission. The County Assessor has no authority to assess Kennecott's property. As a result, any erroneous assessment can only be corrected by the original assessor, i.e. the Commission, and may not be corrected by the county assessor. Thus, Utah Code Annotated § 59-5-17, supra, granting authority to the County Assessor to assess property which has escaped assessment as far back as five years prior to the time of discovery, does not apply so as to permit the County, or the County Assessor, to have Kennecott's property reassessed.

The only body which may correct an assessment, or which may require property which has escaped assessment to be assessed, is the Commission. The County simply does not have the authority to have Kennecott's property reassessed in this case, as the County is not the assessor. Furthermore, Utah statutory law clearly states that any assessment made by the Commission may not

be changed by the County. In Utah Code Annotated § 59-2-802 (Supp. 1987), it states as follows:

The commission shall, before June 1, transmit to the county auditor of each county in which an apportionment has been made a statement showing the property assessed and the assessed value of the property, as fixed and apportioned to the county, cities, towns, schools, and other taxing districts. The county auditor shall enter the statement on the assessment roll or book of the county, and enter the amount of the assessment apportioned to the county in the column of the assessment book or roll which shows the total value of all property for taxation of the county. No county governing body, acting as a county board of equalization, may change any assessment fixed by the commission.

Thus, the County's attempt to use Utah's escaped assessment statute to reassess Kennecott's property, which property has been assessed by the Commission, is improper and cannot be allowed.

D. Sound Public Policy Dictates That, Absent Extraordinary Circumstances, Utah's Escaped Assessment Statute Should Be Held Inapplicable To Underassessed Property.

There are sound policy reasons for holding that Utah's escaped assessment statute should not apply to property which is only allegedly undervalued, but upon which the taxpayer has paid his taxes, and closed his books. The taxpayer in this proceeding, Kennecott, received its assessment from the Commission in 1977, 1978, 1979, 1980 and 1981, and did not protest or seek to have that assessment changed under the Commission equalization procedures found at Utah Code Ann. § 59-7-12 et seq., 1953 as

amended, now codified at § 59-2-1013 (Supp. 1987). Kennecott paid its taxes to the County based upon the assessment, and the County accepted that payment based upon that same assessment. Kennecott is entitled to an assurance that its acceptance of the Commission's assessment, and its payment of taxes based upon that acceptance, will end any obligation for taxes in those years it did not protest its assessment before the Commission under Utah Code Ann. § 59-7-12, supra. Both Kennecott and the Commission are also entitled to the assurance that the Commission's assessment is final unless the County protests that assessment under Utah Code Ann. § 59-7-12, supra.

A policy of finality in taxation matters, and the administrative and financial nightmare which ensues without such a policy, is what led this court to give prospective effect to its holding that Utah Code Ann. § 59-5-109, 1953 as amended, was unconstitutional in Rio Algom v. San Juan County, 681 P.2d 184, 196 (Utah 1984). That same policy of finality, coupled with reliance upon the taxpayer's part, was the reason this court's holding in Loyal Order of Moose No. 259 v. County Bd., 659 P.2d 257 (Utah 1982), was given only prospective effect. In Moose the court states:

Also, if the rule were to be given retroactive effect, the assessment of back taxes on properties affected by this rule might well result in an unreasonable burden upon all those organizations and governmental bodies associated with it. By staying the effective date of our ruling in this case, not only are court and agency resources saved, but time

also is allowed for organizations affected to make needed adjustments.

This correction of a misinterpreted line of law should not and shall not work harshly against the appellant here.

657 P.2d at 265.

For the same policy and hardship reasons enunciated in both Rio Algom and Moose, this court should hold that, absent extraordinary or unusual circumstances, Utah's escaped assessment statute, Utah Code Ann. § 59-2-309 (Supp. 1987), does not apply to underassessed, as opposed to omitted, property. In this case to hold otherwise will reopen the assessment of Kennecott's property for as far back as 1977, ten years ago. Under these circumstances no taxpayer can ever be assured his responsibility for payment of taxes has ended when his taxes are paid. This will create uncertainty upon the part of governments, the Commission and taxpayers and may well work a hardship upon, and work harshly against, Kennecott and other taxpayers.

Other courts in determining that their escaped assessment statutes do not apply to underassessed property, have stated a policy opposing "double taxation". This is considered to be the effect of extending an escaped assessment statute to allow reassessment, and consequently new taxation, of undervalued property. In Tradewell Stores, Inc. v. Snohomish County, 69 Wsh.2d 352, 418 P.2d 466, 467-68 (Wa. 1966) the Washington Supreme Court states as follows:

In Hammond Lumber Co. v. Cowlitz County, 84 Wash. 462, 147 P. 19 (1985), the assessor had

levied taxes based on the value of the land but had neglected to include a railroad built on the property. When he attempted to levy an "omitted property assessment" to cure this oversight, this court ruled that it was not a case of assessing omitted property but, rather, was double taxation and therefore improper.

The Utah Supreme Court has also characterized an attempt to apply Utah's escaped assessment statute to underassessed property as being double taxation. See Builders Component Supply v. Cockayne, 22 Utah 2d 172, 450 P.2d 97, 98 (1969). Indeed, even the County recognizes the application of Utah's escaped assessment statute to property which is only underassessed to be "double taxation". See Addendum B to this Brief, letter from Bill Thomas Peters to Salt Lake County Board of Commissioners dated July 20, 1981, at pp. 2 and 3, (Rec. 729-736).

Fairness and equity also require that Utah's escaped assessment statute be held inapplicable to undervalued property, as opposed to escaped or omitted property. It is not fair to require Kennecott to challenge its assessment within ten days after it is received, see Utah Code Ann. §§ 59-5-52 and 59-7-12, 1953 as amended, and to require the Commission to correct any errors it makes in an assessment within eight months of the date it assesses the property, see Utah Code Ann. §§ 59-5-46(22), 59-5-52 and 59-10-36(1), 1953 as amended, and yet allow the County five years, under the guise that undervaluation

constitutes escaped assessment, to complain about, or challenge an assessment.

For the foregoing reasons, sound public policy requires that underassessed property not be subject to an escaped assessment merely because it is undervalued.

POINT II

THE COUNTY'S COUNTERCLAIM IS FORECLOSED
BECAUSE THE RELIEF SOUGHT IS UNTIMELY UNDER
UTAH'S ASSESSMENT SCHEME.

Utah Code Ann. § 59-5-3 (1974) requires the Commission to assess all mines and mining claims, all machinery used in mining and all improvements to the surface of mines. This is to be accomplished by the Tax Commission before the first day of April of each year. See Utah Code Ann. § 59-5-52, 1953 as amended. Immediately after this assessment, the owner of the property is to be notified of that assessment. Id.

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